STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
APPELLATE PANEL, WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

---

WCC File No.: 1101678

Appellate Case No.: 2013-001499

---

Sean Daley, Employee-Claimant, Appellant,

v.

Chapman Mechanical, LLC, Employer, and Stonewood Insurance Company, Carrier, Defendants,  
Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT**

---

Jeffrey D. Ezell, SC Bar No.: 011877  
EZELL LAW FIRM, LLC  
15 N. Irvine Street  
Greenville, SC 29601  
864-421-0015  
864-421-0256 (facsimile)  
[jeff@jeffezelllawfirm.com](mailto:jeff@jeffezelllawfirm.com)

Attorney for Appellant

**RECEIVED**

DEC 10 2013

**SC Court of Appeals**

## QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. **DID THE WORKERS COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERR IN FAILING TO FIND AND/OR CONCLUDE THAT THE APPELLANT HAD A PSYCHOLOGICAL/PSYCHIATRIC INJURY WHICH CONSTITUTED A DISABLING CONDITION?**
- II. **DID THE WORKERS COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERR IN FINDING AND/OR CONCLUDING THAT THE APPELLANT HAD PRIOR BACK PROBLEMS THAT ROSE TO THE LEVEL OF HIS CURRENT, POST-ACCIDENT PROBLEMS?**
- III. **DID THE WORKERS COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERR IN FINDING AND/OR CONCLUDING THAT THE APPELLANT SUFFERED ONLY A SINGLE MEMBER INJURY AND/OR THAT THE APPELLANT WAS NOT PERMANENTLY AND TOTALLY DISABLED?**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant, Sean Daley, began working for the Respondent, Chapman Mechanical, as a commercial plumber, in October 2010 (R. P. 92, LL 9-12). Essentially all of Mr. Daley's prior employment had been in the field of commercial plumbing. He did hold some other brief jobs as a gas station clerk in high school, and some brief and sporadic restaurant jobs; however, he had never held any type of office or other sedentary type jobs (R. P. 91, LL 4-9). Additionally, it is highly unlikely that even restaurant work would be within the Appellant's ultimate work/lifting restrictions.

Further, Mr. Daley testified that he has never held any job for any significant length of time that did not require him to lift more than 15 lbs. (R. P. 91, LL 19-22). Rather, virtually all of his work has been as a commercial plumber required him to lift 50 lbs. or more on a frequent basis. He also indicated that was something he regularly had to do while employed with the Respondent, Chapman Mechanical (R. P. 92, LL 3-8).

Further, Mr. Daley testified, without contradiction<sup>1</sup> that he was in very good standing with Chapman Mechanical until the date of his injury. He also testified that he had never been criticized for slow or inferior work prior to the date of the accident. Likewise, he testified that there was not any aspect of the job with Chapman Mechanical he was not able to perform without difficulty prior to the February 9, 2011 accident date (R. P. 93, LL 5-13).

Mr. Daley testified as to the nature and circumstances of his accident. It is noteworthy that Chapman Mechanical provided no safety harnesses as required by OSHA. Accordingly, Mr. Daley fell off an eight-foot (8 ft.) ladder, and basically impaled himself on a four inch (4") piece of PVC pipe that was cemented in the floor and protruded several feet from the floor. (R. pp. 1-5, R. P. 564, R. P. 566, R. P. 568, and R. pp. 577-630).

Since the date of his accident, Mr. Daley had to fight vigorously and unnecessarily to obtain the benefits to which he was lawfully entitled. It is noteworthy that his fall was witnessed by another employee, Paul Lousch, who prepared an Incident Report. It is also particularly noteworthy, and emblematic of the manner in which Chapman chose to mistreat Mr. Daley, that the Incident Report made no allegation of any safety violation allegedly committed by Mr. Daley. Ultimately; however, a second Incident Report was completed, albeit clearly punitively, claiming an alleged safety violation on Mr. Daley's part (R.P. 95, LL 4-17).

Mr. Daley attempted to submit further evidence as to the maltreatment of him by Chapman and how said treatment at the hands of his employer aggravated and exacerbated his psychological and/or psychiatric condition. He would earnestly contend that the Commission's

---

<sup>1</sup> It should be noted that despite the fact that deposition testimony was taken from some of Chapman Mechanical's primary officers, Chapman Mechanical was purportedly out of business as of the date of the Hearing and no Respondent, either Chapman Mechanical or Stonewood Insurance presented any testimonial evidence of any kind.

failure to fully allow said evidence and testimony is erroneous and grounds for reversal and/or remand.

As will be discussed further hereinbelow, part and parcel of Mr. Daley's claim in this case is that he was injured, not only physically, but ultimately psychologically, both from the maltreatment by Chapman Mechanical, which forced him to go without pay for a significant period of time, and fight unnecessarily hard to obtain the benefits to which he was clearly lawfully entitled and also by the persistent physical pain and the significant change in lifestyle that his injury and resulting limitations have placed upon him. As will also be discussed hereinbelow, Chapman Mechanical fired Mr. Daley while he was on substantial work restrictions, and Chapman Mechanical never provided him with adequate light duty work as was required by the authorized treating physicians (R. pp. 558-562, R. pp. 492-495).<sup>2</sup>

Mr. Daley testified that he was only allowed to be out of work for two (2) or three (3) days before Chapman forced him to return to work in the office. He worked in the office for approximately one (1) month, and then the serious maltreatment by Chapman began in earnest. Ultimately Mr. Daley was taken out of the office and sent to a commercial jobsite, a school in Anderson, SC by the name of Glenview Middle School (hereinafter "Glenview"). At this job, Mr. Daley was ostensibly sent for light duty work inventorying parts. Glenview was supposed to involve sedentary work, and allegedly, Chapman was going to provide Mr. Daley with help lifting boxes. Unfortunately; however, Mr. Daley was never provided any help when needed for heavy lifting (R. P. 101, LL 5-24).

This job required Mr. Daley to lift boxes full of cast iron plumbing parts. He indicated that these boxes could weigh up to 150 lbs. Further, and uncontroverted, was Mr. Daley's

---

<sup>2</sup> Appellant would stress that the Hearing Commissioner erroneously refused to accept evidence as to the maltreatment of Chapman Mechanical of the Appellant when, in fact, maltreatment was one of the strong bases for Mr. Daley's uncontroverted psychological condition (R. P. 98, LL 15-16).

testimony that the boxes of cast iron or metal parts he was required to lift and/ or move clearly weighed considerably more than 15 lbs., which at that time, was his stated lifting restriction (R. P. 102, LL 5-6, 11-13).<sup>3</sup>

As further evidence of Mr. Daley's maltreatment by Chapman, Chapman was aware that Mr. Daley had sustained an injury to his back, and was provided with restrictions which required him to work in a sedentary capacity. When Mr. Daley was initially sent to Glenview to inventory heavy metal and cast iron parts, Chapman provided Mr. Daley with only a hard plastic five (5) gallon paint bucket to sit on while performing this work. This inadequate "seat" caused Mr. Daley's back and legs to become more painful and bothersome. Further, Mr. Daley testified that the job required him to move his seat all over the work area because the parts were "scattered everywhere" (R. P. 103, LL 12-25).

Mr. Daley complained vigorously about the pain caused by sitting on this five-gallon bucket, and Chapman then grudgingly provided him with a very cheap folding lawn chair with little or no support for his back, hips and legs. This also aggravated his back, hips and legs (R. P. 104, LL 1-6).

Subsequently, Mr. Daley was moved from the Glenview site to a storage area called a "Conex". This is basically a large commercial trailer used for storage of heavy plumbing parts and supplies. Once again, this job involved lifting heavy objects and repeatedly moving from his seated position to various areas within the Conex, all of which was contrary to his stated restrictions (R. P. 104, LL 10-24). It should also be noted that Dr. LeBlond viewed the five-gallon bucket and the lawn chair ostensibly provided by Chapman Mechanical for Mr. Daley to

---

<sup>3</sup> See Appellant's R. P. 498, (Form 14B), wherein Dr. LeBlond gave Mr. Daley permanent lifting restrictions of no greater than 15 lbs.

sit upon while under these restrictions and Dr. LeBlond unequivocally stated that said “seats” were inadequate, and would likely harm Mr. Daley’s condition (R. pp. 492-495).

Ultimately, for reasons which were never completely clear, Chapman chose to fire Mr. Daley. When he was fired, he was still on substantial work restrictions (R. P. 108). Despite this fact, and contrary to South Carolina law, Chapman Mechanical and their insurance carrier refused to pay Mr. Daley Temporary Total Disability benefits (hereinafter “TTD”) for some five (5) months.

Ultimately, and out of sheer financial desperation, Mr. Daley agreed to a significant reduction in the past due TTD in order to simply get his current and on-going TTD started (See SCWCC Consent Order, dated September 20, 2011, signed by Commissioner Barden). Basically, Chapman Mechanical extorted Mr. Daley by leaving him in an absolutely untenable financial position with no income of any kind for five (5) months. This greatly contributed to and/or exacerbated Mr. Daley’s psychological and/or psychiatric issues causing him to be very anxious and depressed (R. P. 117, LL 2-7; R. P. 118, LL 14-18).

Mr. Daley testified that in addition to low back pain, he was also having pain in both legs (R. P. 108, LL 22-25). Counsel for the Respondents tried to make much of the fact that Mr. Daley had suffered from some lesser back pain and other related problems in the past. The Appellant would contend that his prior problems paled in comparison to the problems he experienced as a result of his work related accident, and accordingly, any such allegation and/or inference propounded by the Respondents is unwarranted and unfounded.

Mr. Daley testified unequivocally that any and all problems he had prior to the February 9, 2011, accident were much less severe, and in no way debilitating. The pain that he suffered subsequent to his February 9, 2011, accident was different and much more severe than any prior

back problems (R. P. 109, LL 5-8). Mr. Daley testified that since the accident he has not only back pain, which generally stayed between a “6 and a 7” on a scale of 1 – 10, but now also had hip and leg pain. Mr. Daley testified that his left hip averages a “5” on a scale of 1 – 10 and his right hip is a “3 or 4” on average. Likewise, Mr. Daley testified that his left leg has more pain than his right leg. His left leg generally stays at a “4” on a scale of 1 – 10, and his right leg is a “2 or 3” on the same scale (R. pp. 109-111).

Once again, he testified unequivocally that none of those pain ratings were similar to, or even present, prior to his February 9, 2011 accident. He admitted that prior to the accident, he had a small amount of radiating pain down his right leg; however, he testified that it never prevented him from working or enjoying life in any other way, and he was completely capable of living a normal and active life prior to his work related accident (R. pp. 109-111). Mr. Daley also testified that his pain and/or conditions have gotten worse even since he was released by Dr. LeBlond in November 2011 (R. P. 116, LL 4-8).

A key factor in this case is Mr. Daley’s psychological/psychiatric condition subsequent to his February 9, 2011, accident. Mr. Daley would steadfastly contend that he suffers from significant anxiety and depression; caused both by the maltreatment he suffered at the hands of Chapman Mechanical, the pain he now must try to endure, the substantial lifestyle alteration, the financial situation he has had to endure since the accident, and the fear about future economic hardships caused by the debilitating and impairing nature of his accident and subsequent condition.

Mr. Daley indicated that he had never been treated or medicated for anxiety or depression in the past (R. P. 115, LL 1-5). Since the accident; however, Mr. Daley indicated that he has significant anxiety and/or stress on a daily basis. He is gravely concerned about his future and

his ability to make a living, and stated emphatically that this accident, and the manner in which Chapman Mechanical handled his injury and resulting claim, has caused him a substantial financial hardship (R. pp. 116-117).

He noted particularly the fact that Chapman Mechanical and their insurance carrier withheld the Temporary Total Disability Benefits to which he was entitled for five (5) months. With a wife and three (3) children to provide for Mr. Daley testified that fact alone sent his stress and anxiety levels “out the roof” (R. P. 118, LL 14-18).

At this point it is extremely noteworthy to look at the procedural history of this claim. This matter was essentially filed by the Respondents on a Form 21 Stop Payment Application, and the matter was set for a Hearing on February 7, 2012, before Commissioner Wilkerson. At that time, Counsel for the Respondents requested that the record be held open to allow the Respondents to have the Mr. Daley evaluated by a psychologist or psychiatrist of their choosing to attempt to refute Mr. Daley’s claim of psychological injury and impairment.

Over the objections of Appellant’s Counsel, the Commissioner agreed to allow the Respondents to do this; however, it is important to point that once the Respondents had this victory in their hands, it took a full two (2) months before Mr. Daley could be seen by the Respondents’ hand-picked, out-of-state psychiatrist, located in Charlotte, NC.

The Respondents ultimately chose Dr. Thomas Gaultieri in Charlotte, NC. Mr. Daley appeared for the evaluation, and Dr. Gaultieri, whose report was submitted by the Respondents, agreed that Mr. Daley was suffering from depression as a result of the fallout from this accident. Further, and of particular note, is the fact that Dr. Gaultieri prescribed medications for Mr. Daley to help treat the depression.

As has become the custom with regard to the Respondent's conduct in this matter, when Mr. Daley attempted to fill the prescriptions written by the Respondent's own chosen doctor, authorization for those prescriptions was unilaterally denied by the Respondents without justification or explanation. (R. P. 122, LL 6-25).

As was testified by the Appellant, there was absolutely no evidence to controvert or refute Mr. Daley's claim for psychological/psychiatric injury. In addition to the out-of-state psychiatrist, hand-picked by the Respondents to evaluate Mr. Daley, a Board Certified Psychiatrist located in Greenville, SC, and a PhD Psychologist from Columbia, SC, both agreed that Mr. Daley suffers from significant depression and anxiety (R. P. 489; R. P. 508). Mr. Daley testified that he was candid, forthright, and honest in replying to the questions presented to him by Dr. Brabham and Dr. Mullen (R. P. 124, LL 20-24).

Further, Mr. Daley testified unequivocally that it was his desire to obtain and use the medication and treatment recommended by Dr. Gaultieri (R. P. 125, LL 3-6). Mr. Daley would assert that the treatment recommended by the Respondent's own psychiatrist is the absolute minimal treatment necessary to assist him with his depression and anxiety. Mr. Daley would contend that he is entitled to, and in need of, considerably more treatment to help him deal with his psychiatric and psychological issues in order to render him in some way, shape, or form better from a psychiatric and/or psychological perspective.

It is Mr. Daley's contention that the Commission erred in many respects, but most notably, in failing to find him permanently and totally disabled. Mr. Daley would contend that the substantial evidence, and, in fact the only evidence in this case clearly points to the conclusion that he sustained more than a single-member injury by virtue of the fact that he also sustained debilitating problems with his hips and legs and a substantial and well-documented

psychiatric and/or psychological injury. The Respondents did not submit any vocational evidence and testimony regarding Mr. Daley's abilities or condition, and accordingly, the only evidence on the record supports Mr. Daley's contentions. As such, the Commission's failure to reach such conclusions is an error of law and therefore subject to review and reversal by this Court. Mullinax v. Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc., 318 S.C. 431, 458 S.E.2d 76, 80 (Ct.App.1995).

### **ARGUMENT**

It is the position of the Appellant, Sean Daley, that the Full Commission's decision was not based upon substantial evidence and should be reversed.

As is well settled law in South Carolina, the Workers Compensation Act is to be construed liberally in favor of the Appellant. Carter v. Penny Tire and Recapping Co., 261 S.C. 341, 200 S.E.2d 64 (1973); Hall v. Desert Aire, Inc., 376 S.C. 338, 656 S.E.2d 753 (Ct.App.2007). As such, Mr. Daley would steadfastly contend that this Court should reverse the Order of the Workers Compensation Commission in the following particulars:

**I. THE WORKERS COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND AND/OR CONCLUDE AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT THE APPELLANT HAD A PSYCHOLOGICAL AND/OR INJURY WHICH CONSTITUTED A DISABLING CONDITION.**

The judicial review of the Workers Compensation Commission's factual findings is governed by the substantial evidence standard. Gadson v. Mikasa Corp., 368 S.C. 214, 628 S.E.2d 262 (Ct.App.2004). Of particular note is the proposition that "substantial evidence" is not a mere scintilla of evidence, nor the evidence viewed blindly from one side of the case. Pratt v. Morris Roofing, Inc., 357 S.C. 619, 594 S.E.2d 272 (2004); Jones v. Georgia Pacific Corp., 355 S.C.413, 586 S.E.2d 111 (2003); Etheridge v. Monsanto Co., 349 S.C. 451, 562 S.E.2d 679 (Ct.App.2002).

If, as in this case, the findings of the Workers Compensation Commission are not supported by substantial evidence, they can be, and should be, set aside. Bass v. Kenco Group, 366 S.C.450, 622 S.E.2d 577 (Ct.App.2005). While it is true that the Workers Compensation Commission's finding will normally be upheld, such a finding may not be based upon surmise, conjecture or speculation. Such findings must be founded upon evidence of sufficient substance to afford a reasonable basis for it. Tiller v. National Healthcare Center of Sumter, 334 S.C. 333, 513 S.E.2d 843 (1999).

Further, "where the evidence is susceptible of but one reasonable inference, the question is one of law for the court rather than one of fact for the Commission," Mullinax v. Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc., 318 S.C. 431, 458 S.E.2d 76, 80 (Ct.App.1995), and a court "may reverse where the decision is affected by an error of law." Stephen v. Avins Construction Co., 324 S.C. 334, 478 S.E.2d 74 (Ct.App.1996); S.C. Code Ann. Section 1-23-380 (2002). "Under the scope of review established in the APA, [the] Court...may reverse where the decision is affected by an error of law". Bass at 580; Liberty Mutual Insurance Co. v. South Carolina Second Injury Fund, 363 S.C. 612, 611 S.E.2d 297 (Ct.App.2005); Frame v. Resort Services, Inc., 357 S.C. 520, 593 S.E.2d 491 (Ct.App.2004); S.C. Code Section 1-23-380(A)(6)(d) (2005).

In the instant case, the fact that Mr. Daley suffered a psychological/psychiatric injury is absolutely uncontroverted. The Commission's failure to make such a finding and conclusion constitutes a clear error of both law and fact, and Mr. Daley contends that this Court should make new Findings and Conclusions in proper and inescapable accordance with the evidence and testimony. This is not a case where there is a dispute about substantial evidence, in this case, the only evidence presented shows that the Appellant suffered from a psychological and/or psychiatric injury and therefore it becomes a question of law for this Court to decide.

Mr. Daley was evaluated by Robert E. Brabham, PhD, a licensed psychologist practicing in Columbia, SC. Dr. Brabham reviewed Mr. Daley's medical records at length, and also performed the following tests:

Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale – Fourth Edition  
Wide Range Achievement Test – Revision 4  
Beck Depression Inventory – II  
Beck Anxiety Inventory  
Brain Injury Screening

Additionally, Dr. Brabham made behavioral observations and a mental status examination during the course of a very lengthy clinical interview and evaluation (R. P. 501).

Dr. Brabham's evaluation is extremely thorough and his report reflects same in great detail. Dr. Brabham noted that Mr. Daley suffers from Pain Disorder as well as Depressive Disorder NOS – (Not Otherwise Specified), and a Generalized Anxiety Disorder. Dr. Brabham indicated that Mr. Daley appeared extremely credible and that the information provided to Dr. Brabham was highly consistent with information contained in the other reports which Dr. Brabham reviewed.

Of particular note in this regard is the following statement from Dr. Brabham:

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