THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
APPELLATE PANEL, WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

WCC No.: 1101678

Appellate Case No.: 2013-001499

Sean Daley, Employee-Claimant, Appellant,

v.

Chapman Mechanical, LLC, Employer, and Stonewood Insurance Company, Carrier, Defendants,
Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Steven M. Rudisill
Rudisill, White & Kaplan, P.L.L.C.
212 S. Tryon Street, Suite 1440
Charlotte, North Carolina 28281
(704) 378-8888
Attorney for Respondents

RECEIVED
DEC 10 2013

SC Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE WORKERS COMPENSATION COMMISSION DID NOT ERR IN FAILING TO FIND APPELLANT SUFFERED A PSYCHOLOGICAL INJURY AS A RESULT OF THE COMPENSABLE ACCIDENT

The South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act (A.P.A.) establishes the substantial evidence rule, which governs the standard for judicial review of decisions made by the Commission’s Appellate Panel. Landry v. Carolinas Healthcare System, 396 S.C. 149, 154, 719 S.E.2d 288, 291 (Ct. App. 2011). Substantial evidence is “not a mere scintilla of evidence, nor the evidence viewed blindly from one side of the case, but is evidence which . . . would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion the administrative agency reached in order to justify its actions.” Id. (citing Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. Second Injury Fund, 363 S.C. 612, 620, 611 S.E.2d

297, 300 (Ct. App. 2005)). Under the A.P.A., the reviewing court may not substitute its judgment for the Commission's "as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact, but may reverse where the decision is affected by an *error of law*." Stone v. Traylor Bros., Inc., 360 S.C. 271, 274, 600 S.E.2d 551, 552 (Ct. App. 2004) (emphasis added). An error of law exists "where the evidence is susceptible of but one reasonable inference" Mullinax v. Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc., 318 S.C. 431, 437, 458 S.E.2d 76, 80 (Ct. App. 1995).

The Commission is given broad discretion and is entitled to determine the weight and credibility to be given to all of the evidence that is considered in a particular case. Fishburne v. ATI Systems Intern., 384 S.C. 76, 86-87, 681 S.E.2d 595, 600 (Ct. App. 2009). Additionally, "[w]here the medical evidence conflicts, the findings of the Commission are conclusive." Mullinax, at 435, 681 S.E.2d at 78. Appellant repeatedly refers to the "uncontroverted" evidence of a "substantial" psychological injury which is allegedly directly caused by the accident of February 9, 2011. However, the medical evidence is certainly far from uncontroverted, and the Commission, after properly weighing all of the evidence before it, found that "no psychological overlay as a sequela to this injury" existed. (R. p. 28).

Despite the Appellant misconstruing and aggrandizing several medical records, it is clear – from the plain language of the reports – that neither Dr. Mullen, nor Dr. Gualtieri, found that the Appellant was disabled by any psychological condition that was related to the injury. (R. pp. 487-90; 519-25). As discussed above, Dr. Mullen found Appellant only "somewhat depressed", and Dr. Gualtieri stated that Appellant "does not have any serious psychiatric or cognitive problems that can be related to [the] accident." Appellant asserts that one of the causes of his alleged psychological condition is the "sedentary lifestyle" he is forced to live, which has caused

him to gain “about 40-50 pounds” due to inactivity. (R. p. 501). However, on the date of the injury, Appellant was substantially the same weight as he was when he presented to Dr. Gualtieri in May 2012. (R. pp. 137, 347, 523). Moreover, the medical evidence shows that Appellant is not displaying any sign of atrophy, a common side effect of extended periods of a sedentary lifestyle. (R. p. 435). The fact that there is a disagreement between medical evidence regarding Appellant’s psychological status means that, as a matter of law, this court must defer to the Commission and affirm its findings of fact. Brown v. Peoplease Corp., 402 S.C. 476, 481-82, 741 S.E.2d 761, 764 (Ct. App. 2013) (citing Potter v. Spartanburg Sch. Dist. 7, 395 S.C. 17, 23, 716 S.E.2d 123, 126 (Ct. App. 2011)).

Furthermore, a large portion of Appellant’s claim of psychological damage is allegedly related to “maltreatment” by Chapman. The vast majority of this ‘evidence’ was properly excluded by the Appellate Panel and should not be considered by this court. However, even if this court finds, purely on evidentiary grounds, that these allegations should be considered, the weight given to it should be minimal. Throughout Appellant’s Initial Brief, there are claims of “extort[ion]”, and accusations that the manner in which Chapman, cautiously and lawfully, handled Appellant’s claim contributed to Appellant’s alleged psychological problems. These allegations are wholly irrelevant to Appellant’s claim, and far too speculative and tenuous to be given any weight as a proximate cause of Appellant’s alleged psychological problems.

Under South Carolina law, “mental injuries are compensable if . . .the mental injury is induced either by physical injury . . . or by unusual or extraordinary conditions of employment.” Stokes v. First Nat’l Bank, 298 S.C. 13, 19, 377 S.E.2d 922, 926 (Ct. App. 1988). With the exception of seating complaints made by the Appellant, every allegation of “maltreatment” arose

after his employment was terminated and certainly was not a condition of employment. This timeline justifies the Commission's finding that evidence of such alleged "maltreatment" is irrelevant and this finding should be affirmed by this court.

Two further issues warrant discussion concerning Appellant's supposed psychological condition: (1) Appellant's alleged inability to find gainful employment; and (2) the cause of Appellant seeking medical help for his condition. First, as will be discussed more fully below, Appellant contends that he is permanently and totally disabled, and cannot find any type of gainful employment due to his injury. According to Appellant's Brief, this has led to a decline in Appellant's psychological condition. However, this is in direct contradiction with medical evidence and the results of the Functional Capacities Evaluation given by Dr. LeBlond. In fact, according to the Functional Capacities Evaluation results, Appellant is capable of sitting and standing constantly; climbing ladders frequently; occasionally squatting, kneeling, crawling, and engaging in repetitive lumbar bending. (R. p. 440). Prior to his work as a plumber's assistant, Appellant had experience working at several positions in restaurants, gas stations, and lube shops. (R. pp. 143-44). Appellant freely admitted that the reason he has not looked for work since Dr. LeBlond released him with restrictions in November of 2011 is because his attorney has requested that he not do so. (R. p. 145).

Finally, Appellant has been seen by a number of medical professional since the accident occurred in February of 2011, but not once did he complain of psychological issues until he was urged to see a psychologist by his attorney. In fact, nowhere in the medical records is there any indication that Appellant was suffering from any depression or psychological problems from the date of his injury until he was sent to see Dr. Mullen at the direction of counsel. Dr. LeBlond

treated Appellant for months, both before and after he was seen by Dr. Mullen, yet he never mentioned to Dr. LeBlond any symptoms of depression or anxiety. (see e.g. R. p. 541-50). The calculated and coached nature of this visit is apparent when one compares the Appellant's self-reported "symptoms" with other evidence of record. Despite repeatedly claiming that he suffered from "anxiety" when questioned by Dr. Mullen and Dr. Brabham during their examinations, when asked by his own attorney at the hearing in front of Commissioner Wilkerson, Appellant stated that he "[does not] know what anxiety is." (R. p. 116). Even subsequent to his first visit to Dr. Mullen, the only mention of any depression comes in the records of Drs. Mullen, Brabham, and Gaultierri, two doctors and a psychologist, who were sought out for that particular diagnosis. Appellant makes no complaints to any other physician or therapist, and no other practitioner noted any difference in Appellant's mood or demeanor.

All of the evidence that was before the Commission clearly shows that it was substantial and supports its findings of fact and final decision. As stated in the Appellate Panel's opinion, the evidence of a "psychological overlay is too underwhelming to merit an award for same." (R. p. 27). Pursuant to the applicable standard of judicial review and the clearly settled law of South Carolina, this court must affirm the Commission's findings.

II. THE APPELLATE PANEL WAS CORRECT IN FINDING THAT APPELLANT'S CLAIM INVOLVED ONLY A SINGLE MEMBER PURSUANT TO *SINGLETON V. YOUNG LUMBER CO.* AND THAT APPELLANT WAS NOT PERMANENTLY AND TOTALLY DISABLED.

The Appellant argues that the Commission erred in failing to find that alleged secondary injuries to his legs, hips, and psyche constituted independent compensable injuries, allowing him

to recover under a “two-member” theory. In Singleton v. Young Lumber Co., 236 S.C. 454, 114 S.E.2d 837 (1960), the South Carolina Supreme Court held that in order to obtain compensation in addition to the scheduled member actually injured, claimant must show some “superadded injury or disease.” Id., at 471, 114 S.E.2d at 846 (citing Globe Indemnity Co. et. al. v. Walker, 84 Ga. App. 687, 67 S.E.2d 176, 178 (1951)). The Supreme Court in Wigfall v. Tideland Utilities, Inc., 354 S.C. 100, 589 S.E.2d 100 (2003) interpreted Singleton to stand “for the rule that an individual is not limited to scheduled benefits under Section 42-9-30 if he can show *additional injuries* beyond a lone scheduled injury.” Id. at 109–10, 580 S.E.2d at 103 (emphasis added). In relying on the seminal case of Singleton, the Commission found that the alleged pain/injury to the hips, buttocks, or lower extremities “emanates from the back, and there is no independent injury.” (R. p. 16).

The term “injury” must mean more than simply testimony from the Appellant that another body part is affected. The case Fishburne v. ATI Systems Int’l, 384 S.C. 76, 681 S.E.2d 595 (Ct. App. 2009) is illustrative of this point. In Fishburne, the Claimant alleged to have pain in the right leg emanating from an admitted injury to the lower back. Id. at 83, 681 S.E.2d at 599. The Court of Appeals affirmed the Commission’s award of ten percent (10%) permanent partial disability to the back and noted that, despite Claimant’s testimony of pain, there was “no evidence that she had sustained a specific injury to her right lower extremity” Id. at 89, 681 S.E.2d at 601. This clear statement of law shows that the Appellant must put forward some evidence, above merely his testimony, that his hips and legs are painful, showing that the additional complained-of pain is a legitimate site of an injury. There is no treatment, and nothing in the record, aside from Appellant’s statements, which established that he suffered any injury to

his hips or legs. If Appellant cannot meet this standard, then the Commission's findings must be affirmed.

Appellant's reliance on Roper v. Kimbrell's of Greenville, 231 S.C. 453, 99 S.E.2d 52 (1957) to argue that his contended radiculopathy establishes a second and independent injury is unfounded. In recent years, this court has greatly limited the application of Roper, and established the "situs of the injury" theory as the governing rule for compensation in South Carolina. Therrell v. Jerry's, Inc., 370 S.C. 22, 633 S.E.2d 893 (2006). Under Therrell, the South Carolina Supreme Court expressly rejected the "functional impairment" test for scheduled recovery, essentially what the Appellant is arguing this court should apply, and stated that "our scheduled compensation scheme focuses on the site of the injury and not the resulting functional limitation." Id., at 29, 633 S.E.2d at 897 (citing Gilliam v. Woodside Mills, 319 S.C. 385, 461 S.E.2d 818 (1995)). Applying the situs of the injury rule, as opposed to a theory that has been expressly rejected by the South Carolina Supreme Court, limits Appellant's recovery to scheduled disability to his back, as it is clearly the site of the injury.

As more fully discussed in Argument Section I of this Brief, it is the Respondent's contention that Appellant has not suffered any compensable psychological injury, and that the Appellate Panel ruled correctly on that issue. However, if this court does find a psychological injury exists, Respondents argue that it is not a scheduled member for which Appellant may recover benefits pursuant to the Workers' Compensation Act.

The court in Lee v. Harborside Cafe held that a worker's psychological system is not a scheduled member as intended by the South Carolina General Assembly. 350 S.C. 74, 564 S.E.2d 354, (Ct. App. 2002). Lee and its progeny stand for the well-established rule that "a

purely intangible injury such as one to the psychological system was [not] intended by the legislature to be classified as a scheduled member.” Id., at 80, 564 S.E.2d at 357. In reaching its decision, the court in Lee cited to Fields v. Owens Corning Fiberglass, 301 S.C. 554, 393 S.E.2d 172 (1990) which closely mirrors the present circumstances. In Fields, the Supreme Court overturned the Commission’s award of a ten percent (10%) psychological impairment, stating that “[r]espondent’s only injury to a member, organ, or body part was the injury to her back for which she received a specific scheduled loss award.” Id. At 556, 393 S.E.2d at 174. Therefore, it is clear that in the present case Appellant has failed to show that his alleged psychological condition constitutes an additional compensable injury. The Commission’s findings, as a matter of well-established law, must be affirmed.

The Appellant’s argument regarding his psychological second injury relies almost exclusively on the case of Bass v. Kenco Group, 366 S.C. 450, 622 S.E.2d 577 (Ct. App. 2005). This reliance is erroneous, and the posture in the Bass case can be easily distinguished from the circumstances currently before the court. The Appellant is correct when he states that in Bass, the only evidence before the Commission and the Court of Appeals unequivocally showed that the claimant was “dysfunctional” and “had developed severe depression and panic attacks.” Id. at 455-56, 622 S.E.2d at 579-80. The evidence in Bass truly was, as the Appellant repeatedly contends here, “uncontroverted,” and both the Commission and Appellate Panel found in favor of the Claimant. Id. at 456, 622 S.E.2d at 580.

This one-sided evidence is not the case in this appeal. As discussed at length above, there is a clear disagreement between the medical records and opinions offered into evidence regarding Appellant’s psychological condition. Additionally, the Commission in the present case found that

no compensable psychological injury existed with the Appellant. The Commission's findings of fact must not be disturbed on appeal.

Further, the Commission's findings that the Appellant failed to prove that he was permanently and totally disabled as a result of the accident is supported by substantial evidence, and the Commission must be given deference to determine the credibility and weight it gives to each piece of evidence. Dr. LeBlond only gave the Appellant a six percent (6%) impairment rating to the entire person and cleared him to go back to work. (R. p. 498). The Functional Capacities Evaluation clearly indicates that the Appellant is capable of returning to work subject to the outlined restrictions, and the Appellant is not permanently and totally disabled. As noted several times, the reason the Appellant has not looked for employment that will meet his few work restrictions is because his attorney encouraged him not to do so. The only relevant evidence of Appellant's complete inability to return to work is in the report of Dr. Brabham, however, the Commission chose to not give this conclusion persuasive weight. The presence of conflicting evidence regarding the Appellant's permanent and total disability indicates that this is a question of fact, rightfully determined by the Commission, and not to be disturbed upon review.

III. THE COMMISSION DID NOT ERR IN FINDING APPELLANT SUFFERED FROM BACK PROBLEMS PRIOR TO THE DATE OF THE ACCIDENT.

Respondent argues that a clear reading of the medical history in the record on appeal shows that there is substantial evidence to support the Commission's finding that Appellant suffered from pre-existing back problems prior to his accident. In late 2010, until immediately


prior to his accident, Appellant made a number of visits to the Greenville Hospital System, as well as to New Horizon Family Health Services, all of which were predicated by chronic, aching back pain that had apparently been getting progressively worse for several years. (R. pp. 294-97, 330, 334-37). On October 20, 2010, Appellant presented to North Greenville Hospital complaining of aching back pain that registered as an eight (8) on a scale of zero-ten (0-10); the *exact* same pain scale that Appellant gave after his injury. (R. pp. 294-97).

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